STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MARK ANTHONY BAYNE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000809

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert M. Pachak
Appellate Defender

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

The *Allen* charge given by the trial court was unconstitutionally coercive where it was improperly directed to the juror or jurors voting not guilty; it impermissibly commented on the facts of the case; and inaccurately told jurors to consider in their deliberations the burden that a second trial would impose on the parties, the trial court, and future jurors.

II.

The trial court erred by refusing to order a mistrial after key State's witness, Nikiki Gardner, testified that Appellant had been previously incarcerated as any relevance this testimony had was substantially outweighed by its unduly prejudicial effect, since it impermissibly informed the jury that Appellant had a prior criminal record, and thereby diluted the presumption of innocence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 22, 2015, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Mark Anthony Bayne, for two counts of armed robbery, two counts of kidnapping, one count of criminal conspiracy, one count of carjacking, and two counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 383 – 388.

On April 6-8, 2015 Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable D. Craig Brown and a jury. John Abdalla represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor Justin Holloway represented the State.

The jury found Appellant guilty of one count of armed robbery, one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, one count of kidnapping, and carjacking. R. 357, l. 18 – 359, l. 15. The trial court sentenced Appellant to twenty years imprisonment. R. 368, l. 19 – 369, l. 15.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Introduction

On October 18, 2016, Vickie Trammell and her daughter Nikki Gardner knocked on the door of Vickie's neighbor Aaron "Rich Boy" Shunk. The women were hoping that Shunk would sell them pain pills. Shunk was alone at his house celebrating his birthday. He was highly intoxicated. R. 84, l. 20 - 97, l. 2.

Shunk told them that he did not have any pain pills, but would buy some for the women if they drove him to his drug dealer. *Id.* Shunk and Vickie Trammell drank several beers and smoked marijuana for an unknown period of time before all three got into Shunk's 2005 gold colored Dodge pickup with Gardner driving. *Id.*

During their drive to the drug dealer's house, Shunk started propositioning Gardner for sex and groping her. Gardner and Vickie began arguing with Shunk over his treatment of Gardner. The argument between the two women and Shunk escalated. Vickie called her son, Donald Trammell, and told him about Shunk's insulting his sister, Gardner. *Id.*

Gardner, who was driving during the altercation, decided that the group would give up on buying drugs and simply head back to Vickie Trammell's residence (hereinafter "Trammell residence"). She decided to drop Shunk off after she dropped off her mother. R.130, l. 20 - 139, l. 23. Donald Trammell was not allowed to live at the Trammell residence at the time of the incident.

As the group stopped in the driveway of the Trammell residence, Donald Trammell, Appellant, Larry Trammell (Donald's father), and Appellant's girlfriend, Corrie Morgan, approached the truck from behind the trailer. *Id.* Trammell, Appellant, and Morgan were surprised to see Vickie Trammell, Gardner, and Shunk.

As he reached the pickup truck, Trammell pulled out a pistol and forced Shunk out of the truck. He ordered his mother and sister inside the Trammell residence. Shunk was hit in the mouth and escorted to the back porch of the residence. *Id.* Appellant drove Shunk's pickup truck around into the backyard. Shunk was unable to describe or identify any of his assailants other than Trammell. Shunk could not identify any of his attackers with the exception of Trammell. R. 55, ll. 1-24.

Five to ten minutes later, a local drug dealer and family friend of the Trammells, David Ennis arrived at the Trammell residence. R. 180, l. 4 - 196, l. 21. Trammell had earlier arranged to buy methamphetamine from Ennis. *Id.* Trammell would testify at trial that he forced Shunk into the back yard and his sister and mother into the trailer because he did not want to startle Ennis and did not want to fight Shunk until he had purchased methamphetamine from Ennis. R. 197, l. 3 - 211, l. 11

Trammell further averred that he had not initially planned to rob Ennis, a man he had known since he was a child. *Id.* Trammell explained to the solicitor:

When [Ennis] arrived, I walked to the -- he pulled in the driveway to the left, in front of the trailer. And I walked up to the car and he rolled his window down. And he left the car running, but it was late that night. And so I told him that -- because my grandpa was there, I told him to turn the car off. And so I leaned on the window seal. And when I did, he reached in the -- the little glove compartment beside him and got his scales and stuff out, and reached -- then he reached under the -- under his seat and pulled a big bag of dope out to start -- because I had called him to bring some dope down to -- or I had called him to bring some dope, and he told me to meet him at my mom's house. . . .

[W]hen he pulled the dope out, it -- it -- he had a large amount of it and it surprised me. It put me in shock. And so at that time, I just reached in and snatched the bag of dope from him.

I had a big hoodie on and I put it in my hoodie. And he looked at me like I was crazy, and wanted to know if I was really -- he

thought I was kidding with him, you know, or playing with him at the time. And, you know, I let me know that I wasn't.

So, um, at that time, I told him -- he -- I told home that I wasn't playing or whatever. So I told him, I said, well, I want your money too. And he said, no, he wasn't giving it to me.

So I actually reached inside the car and struck -- he didn't force me or nothing. And I struck my hand in this --in this side of his pocket, closest to the door, and pulled out a wad of money.

R. 203, l. 1 - 205, l. 5.

This spur of the moment robbery netted Trammell twelve hundred dollars in cash and a substantial amount of methamphetamine. R. 205, ll. 6-25. In an effort to address Appellant's armed robbery charge, the solicitor asked Trammell, if there "was some threat or intimidation" involved in his theft from Ennis. *Id.*

Trammell responded, "**No. Actually I just reached in and snatched it. . . . I wasn't even planning on doing it or anything, you know, because I had the money to buy what I told him to bring. And -- but, when I seen it, I just snatched it from him. . . .**" R. 205, l. 20 - 206, l. 3 (*emphasis added*). At the State's prompting, Trammell claimed that Appellant was rummaging around Ennis' backseat while holding a shotgun as Trammell started walking away from Ennis' car with the stolen methamphetamine, cash, and Ennis' cell phone. R. 207, l. 3 - 208, l. 15.

According to Trammell, Appellant was otherwise uninvolved in the incident as the theft from Ennis was spontaneous act on Trammell's part. Trammell could not testify as to whether or not Appellant actually stole anything from Trammell. After stealing from Ennis, Appellant drove Gardner and Vickie Trammell away from the Trammell residence in Shunk's gold Dodge pickup. R. 210, l. 7 - 211, l. 11. Trammell followed in a borrowed Extera.

Following the theft, Ennis drove home and called the police. He was able to identify

Trammell as the man who robbed him, but could not identify anyone else involved. Like Shunk, he failed to identify Appellant in a single-photograph show-up and instead identified Appellant's son as one of the robbers. R. 238, l. 22 - 243, l. 16. After staying on the back porch of the Trammell residence for a period of time, Shunk ran to his house and called police. R. 56, l. 6 - 64, l. 9.

On October 23, 2015, law enforcement received "information" that a gold Dodge pickup truck was parked at Corrie Morgan's residence. R.72, l. 9 - 75, l. 4. As police pulled up to the house, the gold pickup fled. A high speed chase briefly ensued. The pickup truck escaped the pursuing officers. *Id.*

On October 25, 2015, police visited Appellant's residence and arrested Trammell. Law enforcement found the keys to Shunk's stolen Dodge pickup in Trammell's shoes. R. 222, l. 14 - 225, l. 2. Police also found to fake pistols in a pile of Trammell's dirty clothes. Appellant was not home when Trammell was arrested, but was arrested the next day at Morgan's house. R. 234, l. 13 - 235, l. 19.

Appellant's Trial

Ennis never testified. He refused to appear after being served. Likewise, Appellant's girlfriend Corrie Morgan did not testify. Larry Trammell, Donald Trammell and Nikki Gardner's father and the estranged husband of Vickie Trammell, also did not testify. Appellant's son did not testify.

The State was forced to rely on testimony Vickie Trammell, Nikki Gardner, Donald Trammell, and Aaron Shunk. Vickie Trammell and Gardner stated that they did not witness the incident between Trammell and Ennis. Trammell had ordered both of them into the Trammell residence before he forced Shunk around the back of the residence at gunpoint. Both received

substantial benefits from the State in exchange for their testimony.

As detailed above, Trammell testified that his theft of methamphetamine and money from Ennis was not preplanned. He simply decided to take Ennis' unexpectedly large amount of methamphetamine and money when the opportunity presented itself. R. 196, l. 2 - 211, l. 3. With respect to Appellant, all Trammell could testify to was that Appellant was looking through the backseat of Ennis' truck while holding a shotgun. *Id.* Despite police searching both his house and Morgan's house, no shotgun was ever recovered, nor was the State able to produce evidence that Appellant actually took any items from Ennis' truck.

Like his mother and sister, Trammell received substantial benefits for his testimony. The State allowed Trammell to plead guilty to a lesser included offense of attempted armed robbery, as well as burglary second, breaking into a motor vehicle, and grand larceny. His remaining charges of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, kidnapping, two counts armed robbery, two counts of criminal conspiracy, and carjacking were dismissed. R. 218, l. 5 - 225, l. 24. He received a five year sentence that also included the termination of his probation.

Jury Deliberations

Jurors began deliberations at 3:19 p.m. on April 7, 2016. At 4:18 p.m., jurors requested an explanation of the law of hand-of-one, hand-of-all. R. 340, l. 1 - 343, l. 8. After being recharged on the applicable law, the jury resumed deliberations. At around 5:30 p.m., the jury asked, "[i]f we can't come to a verdict on a charge, what do we do?" R. 343, ll. 19-24.

Defense counsel requested that the Court not give any instruction, believing that the jurors' verdicts on the remaining charges may render moot the impasse over the single charge. The Court disagreed and announced its intention to give an *Allen* charge. R. 344, l. 13 - 346, l.

20. The State readily agreed to the *Allen* charge. Defense counsel objected, noting that “I always object to an *Allen* charge and I know there’s a lot of case law both ways on that. *Id.*”

When the jurors re-entered the room, the Court gave its versions of the *Allen* charge:

You’ve indicated that you have been unable to agree on a verdict in this case. And as it pertains to this note, it says as to a -- “a” charge. As I instructed you earlier, ladies and gentlemen, the verdict of the jury must be unanimous.

And in this particular case, there are eight different counts. **Your verdict must be unanimous as to each count.** When a matter -- when a matter -- any matter is in dispute, it isn’t always easy for even two people to agree. **So when 12 people must agree, it becomes even more difficult. In most cases, absolute certainty cannot be reached.**

However, you have a duty to make every reasonable effort to reach a unanimous verdict as to each count. In doing this, you should consult with one another, express your own views, and listen to the opinions of your fellow jurors. Tell each other how you feel and why you feel that way.

Discuss your differences with open minds. Although the verdict of the jury as to each of these charges must be unanimous, everyone of you has the right to your own opinion.

The verdict that you agree on must be your own verdict, the result of your own convictions, and you should not give up your firmly held beliefs merely to be in agreement with your fellow jurors.

The majority should consider the minority’s position. And the minority should consider the majority’s position. You should carefully consider and respect the opinions of each other, and re-evaluate your position for reasonableness.

If you do not agree on a verdict in this case, as to a charge, or as to more than one charge, the court would have to declare a mistrial as to those charges -- as to that charge or those charges.

In that case, it does not mean that anyone wins. It means that at some future time, that me or some other judge will try this case with some other jury -- some other jury sitting where you now sit. The same participants will come and the same lawyers will ask basically the same questions and get basically the same

answers, and we will go through the whole process again.

You were selected, ladies and gentlemen, in the same manner and from the same source as any future jury will be. And there is no reason for me to suppose the case will ever be submitted to 12 more competent jurors than you, or that more or clearer evidence will be produced on one side or the other.

I, therefore, ask that you return to your deliberations at this time.

R. 346, l. 24 - 349, l. 15 (*emphasis added*). Jurors resumed deliberations at 5:39 p.m. At sometime around 6:30 p.m., jurors informed the Court that they were still struggling with apply the concept of hand-of-one, hand-of-all. *Id.* After conferring with the attorneys, the trial court decided to release the jurors for the day.

Deliberations resumed at 9:30 a.m. on April 8, 2016. At the start of their second day of deliberations, the Court sent jurors a written instruction on the hand-of-one, hand-of-all. R. 355, l. 3 - 356, l. 25. At 10:30 a.m., the jury announced that they had reached a verdict in Appellant's case.

The jury found Appellant guilty of the armed robbery and kidnapping of David Ennis. Appellant was also found guilty of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and carjacking. The jury found Appellant not guilty with respect to the remaining charges. R. 357, l. 15 - 359, l. 20. Appellant was also found not guilty of conspiracy. *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

I.

The *Allen* charge given by the trial court was unconstitutionally coercive where it was improperly directed to the juror or jurors voting not guilty; it impermissibly commented on the facts of the case; and inaccurately told jurors to consider in their deliberations the burden that a second trial would impose on the parties, the trial court, and future jurors.

Discussion

An *Allen* charge is a supplemental instruction that a trial court may give to a purportedly deadlocked jury. *Allen v. United States*, 164, U.S. 492 (1896). Under our current jurisprudence a impartially given *Allen* charge is permissible. Our courts and those of other jurisdictions have long recognized the potential coercive impact of an *Allen* charge on jurors who are either in the minority or in favor of acquittal. *See Dawson v. State*, 352 S.C. 15, 572 S.E.2d 445 (2002) (holding that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to constitutionally coercive *Allen* charge.) *see also Workman v. State*, 412 S.C. 128, 771 S.E.2d 639 (2015) (*Allen* charge was unconstitutionally coercive and counsel was ineffective for failing to object); *State v. Thomas*, 342 P.2d 197 (Az. 1959) (prohibiting the use of *Allen* charges).

As with any jury instruction, an *Allen* charge must correctly state the law and the juror's obligations. *Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004). Courts have also recognized that there may simply be trials where the facts and circumstances render an *Allen* charge improper. *Fields v. State*, 487 P.2d 831 (AK 1971). Therefore, "[w]hether an *Allen* charge is unconstitutionally coercive must be judged in its context and under all the circumstances." *Tucker v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 483, 490, 552 S.E.2d 712, 716 (2001) (quoting *Lowenfield v. Phelps*, 484 U.S. 231, 237 (1988)). This State's Supreme Court has explained:

In South Carolina state courts, an *Allen* charge cannot be directed to the minority voters on the jury panel. Instead, an *Allen* charge should be even-handed, directing both the majority and the

minority to consider the other's views. A trial judge has a duty to urge, but not coerce, a jury to reach a verdict. **It is not coercion to charge every juror has a right to his own opinion and need not give up the opinion merely to reach a verdict.**

Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002) (internal citations omitted)(*emphasis added*).

In *Tucker*, the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted the standard set by the United States Supreme Court in *Lowenfield* to determine whether an *Allen* charge is unconstitutionally coercive. In *Lowenfield*, the Supreme Court considered the following factors:(1) whether there are indications that the charge was directed to the minority juror(s); (2) whether the judge used mandatory, suggestive or threatening language; (3) the length of deliberations before the charge, after the charge, and in total; (4) whether the jury requested additional instructions; and (5) whether there was an inquiry into the jury's numerical division, which is generally coercive. *Tucker*, 346 S.C. at 492, 552 S.E.2d at 716 (citing *Lowenfield*, 484 U.S. at 237).

Applying the above outlined factors, the Supreme Court found the *Allen* charge given in *Tucker* was unconstitutionally coercive. Specifically, the court concluded (1) when viewed as a whole, the jury charge was directed to the minority juror or jurors; (2) while the trial court did not use mandatory language, the jury was told of the importance of a unanimous verdict; (3) even though the jury informed the trial judge of their numerical split, the judge failed to instruct the jurors not to disclose their division in the future; and (4) *Tucker's* jury returned a verdict approximately an hour and a half after receiving the *Allen* charge. *Tucker*, 346 S.C. at 492-94, 552 S.E.2d at 717-18.

Here, the *Allen* charge in Appellant's trial was unconstitutionally coercive. The charge was given after jurors had already informed the court that they were at an impasse regarding the application of the law of hand-of-one, hand-of-all. R. 340, l. 1 - 343, l. 8. Under the

circumstances, such a question clearly indicated that jurors could not decide whether Appellant had acted in conjunction with Trammell to steal from Ennis. R. 339, l. 3 - 343, l. 10.

Given these facts, the court's admonition that "[i]n most cases, absolute certainty cannot be reached" was obviously directed to the juror or jurors voting in favor of acquittal. R. 347, l. 11 - 349, l. 23. Similarly, the court's instruction that jurors "carefully consider and respect the opinions of each other, and re-evaluate your position for reasonableness" was also directed towards jurors who believed the State had not met its burden of proving Appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*

In addition, the court's *Allen* charge impermissibly commented on the facts of the case. *State v. Sosebee*, 284 S.C. 411, 326 S.E.2d 654, n. 1 (1985) (citing *State v. Pruitt*, 187 S.C. 58, 196 S.E. 371 (1938)(holding that trial courts should refrain from making any comment on the facts of the case); see also *State v. Kennedy*, 272 S.C. 231, 250 S.E.2d 338 (1978); *State v. Smith*, 288 S.C. 329, 342 S.E.2d 600 (1986). Specifically, the trial court informed jurors that if they could not reach a verdict "the same participants will come and the same lawyers will ask basically the same questions and get basically the same answers, and we will go through the whole process again." R. 347, l. 11 - 349, l. 23.

A similar instruction was found by the Supreme Court of Indiana to have "dangerously approached commenting on evidence and the conduct of trial." *Lewis v. State*, 424 N.E.2d 107 (1981). In *Lewis*, the trial court instructed jurors that:

There is no reason to believe that the case can be tried again any better or more exhaustively than it has been. There is no reason to believe that more evidence would be produced on behalf of either side.

424 N.E.2d at 110. As in our state, the Court cautioned that a trial court "must refrain from imposing himself and his opinions on the jury." *Id.* Citing to the American Bar Association

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