ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

vs.

MARK ANOTHONY BAYNE,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000809

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

RECEIVED

AUG 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

305 East North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's only argument against the Allen instruction was he always objects to Allen instructions, and Appellant never objected to the specific language of the instruction. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for review. Further, the trial court did not abuse its discretion and the language of the Allen instruction was not coercive.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by providing an Allen instruction, after the jury deliberated only two hours. Further, the language of the Allen instruction was appropriate and not coercive. The issue is not remotely preserved for review as counsel made no legal arguments and did not object to the specific language of the trial court's instruction.

How the issue arose.

The jury began deliberations at 3:19 p.m. and sent a note asking for an explanation of the hand of one, hand of all instruction at 4:18 p.m. R. p. 339. The trial court reinstructed the jury on accomplice liability and the jury returned to the jury room for further deliberations at 4:23 p.m. R. pp. 340-43. The jury sent a note sometime thereafter asking, "If we can't come to a verdict on a charge, what do we do?" R. p. 343, lines 19-24.

The trial court suggested an Allen instruction. Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896). Bayne's counsel responded he preferred the trial court not give an Allen instruction and to simply find out the verdict on the other charges "because it may be a moot point there are so many charges." R. p. 343, line 19-p. 344, line 3. Bayne's counsel commented he always objects to an Allen charge. R. p. 344. The prosecution told the trial court that the State would defer to the trial court's judgment. R. p. 345, lines 6-16.

The trial court gave an extensive Allen instruction. R. p. 34, line 24 – p. 349, line 13. The jury returned to the jury room for further deliberations at 5:39 p.m. **Afterwards, the trial court asked the parties if there was an exception to the instruction. Bayne’s counsel responded, “Other than the fact that I object to an Allen charge, no.” R. p. 349, lines 16-21.**

The jury sent a third note advising, “We’re still having issues with hand over hand [sic].” R. p. 350, lines 3-4. The trial court noted the jury did not indicate that could not reach a verdict and decided to provide written instructions to the jury. R. p. 350. The trial court brought the jury in at 6:31 p.m. and announced the court would release them for the evening. R. pp. 352-53.

The next morning, the trial court gave the jurors each a written copy of his instructions in their entirety and sent the jury to continue its deliberations at 9:28 a.m. The jury returned with its verdicts at 10:30 a.m. The jury found four guilty verdicts and four not guilty verdicts. R. pp. 357-59.

Because Bayne’s counsel did not make an argument, no issue is preserved for review.

First, the issue is not preserved for review. Bayne’s trial counsel objected to the instruction for no other reason than he always objects to Allen instructions. However, Bayne did not state the grounds for his objection which is too general to preserve any issue. In order for an issue to properly be preserved for appellate review, the issue must be: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004). “The objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). A “general objection that does not specify the particular ground on which the objection is based is

insufficient to preserve a question for review.” State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 17, 482 S.E.2d 760, 766 (1997). Because trial counsel failed to provide any argument about why an Allen instruction should not be provided in this instance and failed to provide any legal argument challenging the efficacy of an Allen instruction in general, this Court should refrain from reviewing this issue.

Additionally, because Bayne’s counsel did not object to any portion of the Allen instruction provided by the trial court when given the opportunity, Bayne’s complaint for the first time on appeal about the specific language in the instruction is not preserved for review. State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding that Brown’s issue with a jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review where Brown explicitly stated to the trial judge that he had no objection to the instruction). “[A] defendant’s failure to object to the charge as made or to request an additional charge, when an opportunity has been afforded to do so, results in a waiver of his right to complain about the charge on appeal.” State v. Stone, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E.2d 286, 287 (1985); see I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724-25 (2000) (“Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.”).

The trial court’s supplemental instruction was not coercive.

Further, the trial court’s instruction was not an abuse of discretion. In order for the judicial process to properly function, it is important for cases to reach a final resolution at some point. See Nickles v. Seaboard Air Line Ry., 74 S.C. 102, 142, 54 S.E. 255, 268 (1906) (“It is important that the trial of causes should be ended.”). As a result, trial judges have a duty to urge juries to agree upon a verdict. State v. Kelly, 372 S.C. 167, 171, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2007). There is no doubt that “[a]ny criminal defendant, and especially any capital defendant, being tried by a jury is entitled

to the uncoerced verdict of that body.” Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 241 (1988). Yet, the Supreme Court in Allen specifically approved the use of supplemental jury instructions. Allen, 164 U.S. at 501-02. A court provides an Allen charge when the jury has reached an impasse in its deliberations and is unable to reach a consensus. Id.; United States v. Burgos, 55 F.3d 933, 935-36 (4th Cir.1995). The decision to give such a charge is within the discretion of the trial or sentencing court. Burgos, 55 F.3d at 935. A supplemental instruction advising every juror has a right to his own opinion and need not give up the opinion merely to reach a verdict strongly reduces any risk of coercion. State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 575-76 (1995) (“It is not coercion when a trial judge instructs the jury that failure to reach a verdict will require a new trial at additional expense, or states that every juror has a right to his own opinion and need not give it up merely for the purpose of reaching agreement.”).

The most frequent setting in which the risk of juror coercion arises is when a court inquires into the numerical division of a deadlocked jury. See Brasfield v. United States, 272 U.S. 448, 450 (1926) (finding the practice of the trial court to inquire of the jury as to the numerical division was “harmful” and “not to be sanctioned”). However, the trial court did not enquire into the numerical division in this case and was not made aware of what the division might be.

The Supreme Court in Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 552 S.E.2d 712 (2001) analyzed Lowenfield to determine the constitutionality of an Allen instruction in the penalty phase of a capital trial. This Court noted the United States Supreme Court considered the following factors: (1) whether the instruction spoke specifically to the minority jurors; (2) whether the instruction contained any language to the effect of “You have got to reach a decision in this case”; (3) whether there was an inquiry into the jury’s numerical division; and (4) whether the jury reached a verdict

shortly after the instruction. Catoe, 346 S.C. at 491-92, 552 S.E.2d at 716.

In the instant case: (1) the instructions did not speak specifically to minority jurors; instead, the instruction implored both the majority and minority to consider the other's position; (2) no language suggested a verdict was mandatory; (3) the trial court refrained from investigation into the numerical division or, for that matter, which charges the jury was unable to reach a verdict on; and (4) the jury did not reach a verdict right away – the jury deliberated for roughly an hour after the Allen instruction, then inquired again about the law regarding accomplice liability, then deliberated another hour the following morning. The jury deliberated only a couple of hours before the trial court provided the Allen instruction.

The trial court's instruction was not coercive because the trial court's instruction did not single out the minority jurors and did not contain mandatory language compelling a verdict. Instead, the trial court's instruction advised the jurors that the verdict must be their verdict, that each juror had a right to their own opinion, and that jurors "should not give up [their] firmly held beliefs merely to be in agreement" with the other jurors. R. pp. 346-49. See Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 195, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323-324 (2002) ("The entire charge shows the trial judge adequately and correctly told the jurors they should listen to what the other side had to say; to be open to change one's mind; and to not change one's mind if it would do violence to one's conscience. The charge was neutral in its direction, not impermissibly aimed at the minority, instead suggesting members of each side examine their own position in light of the other view's position.").

Further, the trial court refrained from investigation into the numerical division between the jurors, and the jurors likewise never advised the trial court of what the division might be. The jury continued deliberating for an hour before returning with a question, and deliberated another hour the

following morning. Bayne's counsel waived polling the jury. Accordingly, the verdict was not coerced.

Finally, the trial court did not comment on the facts during the instruction. The trial court did not mention any specific evidence or testimony, or even any class of evidence or testimony. The trial court merely recited the obvious that a new trial may be required if a verdict was not reached, which is permissible. In State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 575-76 (1995), the Supreme Court held, "It is not coercion when a trial judge instructs the jury that failure to reach a verdict will require a new trial at additional expense" The trial court's instruction was in keeping with Singleton.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion because the circumstances and the trial court's instruction was not coercive. Accordingly, the conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

II.

The trial court did not err in declining to grant a mistrial and the issue is not preserved for review since Appellant declined an offer for a curative instruction.

Bayne argues the trial court should have granted a mistrial for an offhand comment by Nikki Gardner during her testimony. However, because Bayne declined a curative instruction, the issue is not preserved for review. Further, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to grant a mistrial.

The issue arose when the prosecutor asked Nikki Gardner when she met Bayne's wife, Tina. Nikki answered, "When I was younger, as a child. But from when I can remember her was back in – I when I can actually remember her is when he had – he hadn't been released from prison long." R. p. 117, lines 14-17.

Bayne's counsel asked to approach the bench and the jury was sent to the jury room. The prosecutor agreed the testimony was improper, but noted the reference was brief and suggested that a curative instruction was all that was necessary. R. pp. 117-19. The prosecutor admonished the witness "to really think about her responses beforehand." R. p. 119, lines 5-7. The prosecutor advised the trial court that he spoke with the witnesses beforehand about mentioning prior crimes and Nikki agreed that he spoke to her about that. R. p. 119, line 19 – p. 120, line 6.

The trial court ruled that "in this particular situation, I believe that the curative instruction certainly cures any misstatement by this witness." R. p. 121, lines 15-17. The trial court offered to provide the jury with a curative instruction. Defense counsel asked to think about it "because it almost draws more attention to it." R. p. 123, lines 6-8. The trial court later supplemented his ruling and noted he would let Bayne's counsel consider overnight whether he wanted a curative instruction.

R. pp. 166-67. The next day, Bayne's counsel renewed the motion for mistrial, the trial court denied the motion, but again gave Bayne's counsel the option of a curative instruction. R. p. 172, lines 13-25. The trial court advised Bayne's counsel "I'll do it whenever you'd like me to do it. I mean, I can do it when I charge them on the law." R. p. 173, lines 4-6. Bayne's counsel wanted to wait until then to make a decision. R. p. 173, lines 7-9. Ultimately, Bayne's counsel declined the instruction. R. pp. 261-62.

"A mistrial should not be granted except in cases of manifest necessity and ought to be granted with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons." State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255 (1989) *cited in* State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 522 S.E.2d 845 (Ct. App. 1999) (noting trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial).

"The granting of a mistrial motion is an extreme measure to be taken only where an incident is so grievous that its prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way." State v. Dempsey, 340 S.C. 565, 570, 532 S.E.2d 306, 309 (Ct. App. 2000). The defendant waives any right to complain about the challenged testimony if he waives the trial judge's offer of a curative instruction. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 164, 467 S.E.2d 272, 276 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding defense counsel waived the motion for mistrial by declining an offer for a curative instruction, defense counsel opined it would only call attention to the alleged error).

Watts is on point with the present case. In Watts, a law enforcement officer made an offhand remark that she overheard that Watts made prior drug purchases. Defense counsel objected, arguing the State put Watts' character in issue. The trial court did not believe a mistrial was warranted, but offered to strike the testimony from the record or provide a curative instruction. Watt's counsel declined because he did not want to bring the matter to the jury's attention again. This Court found,

“In rejecting the trial court’s offer to strike the testimony or give a curative instruction, Watts waived any complaint he had to the challenged testimony.” Id. at 164, 467 S.E.2d at 276.

Like the judge in Watts, the trial court offered to give a curative instruction immediately after the objection. The trial court again offered to provide a curative instruction during the charge conference, which Bayne also declined. Accordingly, Bayne waived his complaint about the testimony. Further, since the trial court was willing to cure the error, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to grant a mistrial. State v. Dawkins, 297 S.C. 386, 377 S.E.2d 298 (1989). (An appropriate curative instruction is generally considered to cure any error).

Finally, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The reference about which Bayne complains was brief and counsel implicitly recognized it was not prejudicial by not wanting to call attention to it with a curative instruction. No defense was presented, and the State’s evidence was uncontroverted. The record indicates the jury carefully considered each charge, finding Bayne guilty of some charges and not guilty on others. “Harmless error rules . . . ‘serve a very useful purpose insofar as they block setting aside convictions for small errors or defects that have little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial.’” State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 59, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 22 (1967)). It is simply implausible that the jury based its guilty verdicts on the brief, unsolicited reference to some non-specific incarceration rather than the properly admitted evidence presented to the jury. Accordingly, the conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.